FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
10/9/2023 8:00 AM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/9/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

102459-2

Supreme Court No. (to be set)
Court of Appeals No. 56415-7-II
IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of Aron Nixon

Pierce County Superior Court

Cause No. 19-2-11754-6

The Honorable Judge Karena Kirkendoll

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jodi R. Backlund
Manek R. Mistry
Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY
P.O. Box 6490
Olympia, WA 98507
(360) 339-4870
backlundmistry@gmail.com

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At Aron Nixon's civil commitment trial, the State relied heavily on out-of-court statements made by a critical witness. The Court of Appeals agreed this was error but refused to reverse Mr. Nixon's commitment order.

The State did not call this critical witness to testify at the commitment trial. Despite this, the trial court improperly refused Mr. Nixon's request for a missing witness instruction.

During the original prosecution on the offense, the State's attorney acknowledged that the witness's account suffered from inconsistencies, that the witness had memory issues, and that some allegations could not be corroborated. At the time, the State conceded that credibility problems made it unlikely that a jury would find that Mr. Nixon acted with sexual motivation when he assaulted the witness. But at his commitment trial, the court refused to allow Mr. Nixon to introduce these statements as the admissions of a party-opponent.

The court also barred Mr. Nixon from testifying that the threat of a Recent Overt Act (ROA) petition was “definitely an added deterrent” to future offenses. The Court of Appeals agreed that this was error but refused to reverse the commitment order.

The trial court’s errors prejudiced Mr. Nixon. His commitment order must be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED

Petitioner Aron Nixon asks the Court to review the Court of Appeals’ Opinion, entered September 12, 2023.¹ This case presents four issues:

1. Did the court’s erroneous refusal to allow impeachment of a critical witness’s hearsay statements prejudice Mr. Nixon?
2. Should the court have instructed jurors that they could draw an adverse inference from the absence of a critical state witness?

¹ A copy of the opinion is attached.

3. Should the trial court have allowed Mr. Nixon to introduce statements made by a representative of the government as the admissions of a party-opponent?
4. Was Mr. Nixon prejudiced by the erroneous exclusion of his testimony that the possibility of a Recent Overt Act (ROA) petition was “definitely an added deterrent” to any future offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

At Aron Nixon’s civil commitment trial, the State bore the burden of proving that he had a predicate offense that qualified him for commitment. CP 153. To meet its obligation, it sought to prove that a prior assault conviction was sexually motivated. CP 1-2.

In pleading guilty to the assault, Mr. Nixon wrote that he “struck J.S. and knocked his tooth out.” CP 100. Mr. Nixon also pled guilty to third-degree rape and felony harassment.² CP 100. At his later commitment trial, Mr. Nixon testified that he had

² Neither crime would qualify as a sexually violent offense. *See* RCW 71.09.020(18).

consensual sex with Joshua Saunders, and that the assault followed. RP 2426-2433.

The State's prior representations to the court. To induce Mr. Nixon to plead guilty to the assault charge, the State withdrew an allegation of sexual motivation. CP 79, 86; Ex. 217. The State's representative told the court that "[e]videntiary problems... [made] conviction on the original charge doubtful." CP 89-90.

These evidentiary problems included "inconsistencies and memory issues" that might raise "doubts about the victim's credibility and account of events." CP 89. The State's attorney also noted that "[w]itnesses who were present prior to the assault are homeless and are unlikely to be located for trial." CP 89. The court accepted Mr. Nixon's guilty plea to second-degree assault without a finding of sexual motivation. CP 86-101.

At the civil commitment trial, Mr. Nixon asked the court to admit the representations made by the State's attorney as the

statements of a party-opponent. Ex. 217; RP 1463-1468, 1682-1689. The court refused. RP 1682-1689.

Exclusion of prior inconsistent statements. The State did not call Saunders, but instead introduced hearsay in which he alleged multiple rapes and assaults over the course of several days. RP 1054-1068, 1073-1091, 1176-1209.

Mr. Nixon wished to impeach Saunders with prior inconsistent statements. RP 1292-1308, 1312, 1327-1329. The court refused to allow the impeachment. RP 1292-1308, 1312, 1327-1329. The State and the Court of Appeals agree that this was error. Opinion, p. 17; Respondent's Brief, pp. 38, 41.

The court admitted Saunders' hearsay statement that he "was raped repeatedly." RP 1067. The court excluded his statement to the lead detective that he was sexually assaulted only once. Ex. 160, Bates No. 618, 623; RP 1292-1308, 1312, 1327-1329, 1458-1459.

The court admitted Saunders' statement that Mr. Nixon held him "for three days." RP 1067. The court excluded his

statement that he was held for 30 hours or less. Ex. 160, Bates No. 617-618, 622-623, 690; RP 1292-1308, 1312, 1327-1329, 1458-1459.

The court admitted Saunders' statement that his mouth had been penetrated with a knife, a razor blade, and a scalpel. RP 1197, 1199. It excluded evidence that he'd mentioned only a knife in two separate interviews. Ex. 160, Bates No. 617-618, 621-624 690-691; RP 1312.

The threat of an ROA petition. Mr. Nixon knew that if he were released, he could face a new commitment petition based on a "Recent Overt Act" (ROA) that was not a crime and did not include any sexual misconduct. CP 773-775.

When asked about the effect of an ROA petition in his pretrial deposition, Mr. Nixon said "[T]hat is definitely an added deterrent... [but] it is not my intention to go down that path at all." CP 774. He reiterated this more than once. CP 773-775.

The court barred Mr. Nixon from testifying that the threat of an ROA petition would have a deterrent effect. RP 89. The Court of Appeals agrees that this was error. Opinion, p. 27.

Refusal to give missing witness instruction. Pointing to Saunders' absence, Mr. Nixon proposed a missing witness instruction. CP 788; RP 2642-2656. The court declined to give the instruction. RP 2664.

The jury returned a verdict in favor of the State. RP 2760-2762. The court entered an order committing him indefinitely. CP 171.

Mr. Nixon appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed the commitment order. CP 174; Opinion, pp. 1, 34. Mr. Nixon seeks review of that decision.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD HAVE ALLOWED MR. NIXON TO IMPEACH A CRITICAL STATE WITNESS WITH PRIOR INCONSISTENT STATEMENTS.

The State relied heavily on Saunders' hearsay statements to prove sexual motivation, an essential element required for

commitment in this case. RP 1067-1068, 1080-1091, 1123-1128, 1195-1204. The State and the Court of Appeals agree that the court should have allowed Mr. Nixon to impeach Saunders' hearsay statements. Opinion, pp. 16-17; Respondent's Brief, pp. 38, 41.

The error requires reversal.

An evidentiary error is prejudicial if, "within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." *Saldivar v. Momah*, 145 Wn.App. 365, 401, 186 P.3d 1117 (2008), *as amended* (July 15, 2008). For example, in *Saldivar*, the trial court erroneously excluded a prior consistent statement that should have been admitted under ER 801(d)(1).

The *Salvidar* court reversed. It found it "likely that excluding this evidence had a material prejudicial effect on the trial's outcome," because the prior statements bolstered the testimony of a witness the trial court found not credible. *Id.*

Here, the jury found Saunders' hearsay statements credible, as reflected in the verdict. The inconsistent statements would have undermined Saunders' credibility. Their exclusion "likely... had a material prejudicial effect on the trial's outcome." *Id.*

The need for impeachment evidence is especially strong when "[t]he entire case... depend[s] on whose story the jury believe[s];" in such cases, "credibility of witnesses [is] paramount." *Am. Modern Home Ins. Co. v. Thomas*, 993 F.3d 1068, 1071 (8th Cir. 2021); *Alexander v. Greer*, 959 So. 2d 586, 591 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

Credibility is "paramount" when the parties present "diametrically opposed" descriptions of events. *Cummings v. Malone*, 995 F.2d 817, 825 (8th Cir. 1993). In such cases, "[t]he entire case... depend[s] on whose story the jury believe[s]." *Am. Modern Home Ins.*, 993 F.3d at 1071 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). It is "crucial" that a litigant be

given “[e]very opportunity to impeach.” *Cummings*, 995 F.2d at 826.

The inconsistencies in Saunders’ statements were not trivial. Indeed, they contributed to the State’s decision to amend the original charges, allowing Mr. Nixon to plead guilty to assault without sexual motivation. Ex. 217.

Jurors heard Saunders’ claim that he “was raped repeatedly,” but did not hear his inconsistent statement alleging only one sexual assault. RP 1067, 1292-1308, 1312, 1327-1329, 1458-1459; Ex. 160, Bates No. 618, 623.

Jurors heard Saunders’ claim that he was trapped “for three days,” but did not hear his inconsistent statement that he was held for 30 hours or less. RP 1067, 1292-1308, 1312, 1327-1329, 1458-1459; Ex. 160, Bates No. 617-618, 622-623, 690.

Jurors heard Saunders’ assertion that he’d been penetrated with a knife, a razor blade, and a scalpel. RP 1197, 1199. They did not hear that in two separate interviews he

referred only to a knife. RP 1312; Ex. 160, Bates No. 617-618, 621-624, 690-691.

The excluded statements would have cast doubt on Saunders' veracity and on the truth of the statements that were admitted. The admitted statements were central to the State's case and diametrically opposed to Mr. Nixon's own testimony. There is a reasonable probability that "the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred." *Saldivar*, 145 Wn.App. at 401.

The Court of Appeals overlooked the impact the excluded evidence would have had on Saunders' credibility. Opinion, p. 18. According to the court, Saunders' inconsistent statements "never undermined [his] version of events." Opinion, p. 18. But even if accurate, this does not make their exclusion harmless. *See, e.g., State v. Horton*, 116 Wn. App. 909, 921, 68 P.3d 1145 (2003).

In *Horton*, for example, the complaining witness testified that she had been raped by the defendant, and that she had not

been sexually active with anyone else. *Id.*, at 911, 913. Due to defense counsel’s error, her prior inconsistent statements describing a sexual relationship with her boyfriend were not admitted. *Id.*, at 913-920. The Court of Appeals concluded that “the resulting void was extremely detrimental to [the defendant’s] position.”³ *Id.*, at 922. This was so even though the impeaching evidence “never undermined [the witness’s] version of events.” Opinion, p. 18.

The Court of Appeals in this case incorrectly suggested that “other evidence in the record supported that a sexually motivated attack occurred,” diminishing the prejudice that flowed from the court’s error. Opinion, p. 18. This is incorrect. The “other evidence” cited by the court does not support its conclusion.

³ The *Horton* court applied the prejudice standard for ineffective assistance: a reasonable probability that the error affected the result. *Id.*, at 921-922. The court’s decision to reverse also rested on counsel’s failure to object to misconduct. *Id.*

The presence of Mr. Nixon’s DNA is explained by evidence that a sexual encounter *preceded* the assault, as Mr. Nixon testified. RP 2430-2433. This sequence is also consistent with his guilty pleas to assault and third-degree rape. CP 100. Furthermore, Saunders’ description of “details relevant to the rape” was not insulated from an attack on his credibility. Opinion, p. 18.

Jurors should have had “a full opportunity to assess [Saunders’] credibility by hearing a prior statement that was inconsistent” with his statements. *Fite v. Mudd*, 19 Wn. App. 2d 917, 940, 498 P.3d 538, 551 (2021), *review denied sub nom.* *Fite v. City of Puyallup*, 200 Wn.2d 1004, 516 P.3d 377 (2022). The parties’ descriptions of events were “diametrically opposed.” *Cummings*, 995 F.2d at 825. The State’s “entire case... depended on whose story the jury believed.” *Am. Modern Home Ins.*, 993 F.3d at 1071 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Mr. Nixon should have been given “[e]very opportunity to impeach.” *Cummings*, 995 F.2d at 826.

The error was compounded by the court's refusal to give a missing witness instruction (as outlined below), which would have allowed jurors to draw an adverse inference from Saunders' absence.

The Supreme Court should accept review. This case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). The commitment order must be vacated. *Id.*; *Saldivar*, 145 Wn.App. at 401. The case must be remanded for a new trial.

II. THE COURT SHOULD HAVE GIVEN A MISSING WITNESS INSTRUCTION.

Without Saunders' statements, the State would have been unable to prove that the assault was committed with sexual motivation. Saunders was the only eyewitness supporting the State's version of events. The court should have granted Mr. Nixon's request for a missing witness instruction.

The missing witness rule "is uniformly applied by the courts and is an integral part of our jurisprudence." *Pier 67, Inc.*

v. King Cnty., 89 Wn.2d 379, 385–86, 573 P.2d 2 (1977)

(internal quotation marks and citations omitted). There are three prerequisites for application of the rule, all of which are met in this case. *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 598–99, 183 P.3d 267 (2008).

First, the potential testimony of the uncalled witness must be material and not cumulative. *Id.* Here, the State has conceded that Saunders’ account was material and not cumulative. Respondent’s Brief, p. 86.

Second, the doctrine does not apply if the missing witness’s absence is satisfactorily explained. *Id.* According to the Court of Appeals, “the State provided an explanation for J.S.’s absence.” Opinion, p. 22. This “explanation” stemmed from Saunders’ attorney’s representation that her client feared being “retraumatized” by participation in a deposition. Opinion, p. 22.

This is insufficient. The missed deposition occurred months prior to trial. CP 983. Saunders was represented by

counsel, and nothing suggests that his attorney had any difficulty contacting him. CP 973, 977, 980. Despite this, the State made no further effort to even speak with him, much less secure his attendance at trial. CP 973- 985.

Undoubtedly, many crime victims fear re-traumatization during trial. But trials are conducted daily across Washington state. The State’s attorney should have asked Saunders directly about his fears and explored options for reducing them.⁴ Furthermore, Saunders may have wished to testify at trial, even though he missed the deposition, because of a desire to see Mr. Nixon committed.

Finally, the rule “does not apply if the uncalled witness is equally available to the parties.” *State v. Blair*, 117 Wn.2d 479, 490, 816 P.2d 718 (1991). Availability does not turn on whether

⁴ For example, courts have broad discretion to accommodate the needs of a witness with a “vulnerable mental state.” *State v. Dye*, 178 Wn.2d 541, 555, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013). This could include the presence of a comfort animal or remote testimony by closed circuit television. *Id.*, at 543, 552.

“the other party could call the witness.” *State v. Cheatam*, 150 Wn.2d 626, 653, 81 P.3d 830 (2003).

Instead, a witness is particularly available to one party when there is “such a community of interest between the party and the witness...as in ordinary experience would have made it reasonably probable that the witness would have been called to testify for such party.” *Blair*, 117 Wn.2d at 490 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

In this case, the State shared a strong “community of interest” with Saunders. *Id.* Saunders’ account was the foundation of the State’s proof of sexual motivation. He was the only eyewitness supporting the State’s position. In “ordinary experience,” it would be “reasonably probable” that Saunders “would have been called to testify” for the State. *Id.* This establishes the necessary “community of interest.” *Id.*

The Court of Appeals concluded that “personal or professional ties” make a witness particularly available to one

party. Opinion, p. 22. This is incorrect. *See, e.g., Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d a 599.⁵

As the Supreme Court explained nearly a century ago,

[W]here the witness is an actor in the transaction which gives rise to the controversy, and is presumably favorably disposed towards one of the parties, and that party does not produce him as a witness, it is presumed that his testimony, if produced, would be unfavorable to him.

Rosenstrom v. N. Bend Stage Line, 154 Wash. 57, 65, 280 P.

932 (1929). This observation applies here. Saunders was involved in the “transaction,” he was “presumably favorably disposed towards [the State],” and would naturally support civil commitment for Mr. Nixon. Because of this community of interest, jurors were entitled to presume that his testimony “would be unfavorable” to the State. *Id.*

When analyzing the propriety of an instruction, appellate courts view the facts in the light most favorable to the

⁵ In *Montgomery*, the Supreme Court concluded that the defendant’s landlord was not particularly available to him, despite their relationship.

proponent of the instruction. *State v. Coryell*, 197 Wn.2d 397, 415, 483 P.3d 98 (2021) (addressing sufficiency of the evidence for a lesser offense). The instruction should be given even if the facts are conflicting. *Id.* Here, taking the facts in a light most favorable to Mr. Nixon, the court erred by refusing to give a missing witness instruction.

A trial court's erroneous rejection of a proposed instruction requires reversal if the error substantially affected the outcome. *Magana v. Hyundai Motor Am.*, 123 Wn. App. 306, 317, 94 P.3d 987 (2004), *as amended* (Sept. 21, 2004), *as amended* (Feb. 23, 2005).

In *Magana*, for example, the trial court refused a belated request for a curative instruction regarding an expert's inadmissible testimony. *Id.* at 313. The Court of Appeals reversed, even though neither party referenced the improper testimony in closing arguments. *Id.*, at 319. The appellate court concluded that the error "substantially affected the outcome" if it "swayed even one juror." *Id.*, at 318.

Mr. Nixon was prejudiced by the court's refusal to give a missing witness instruction. The State's proof of sexual motivation rested on the hearsay of a non-testifying declarant. RP 1067-1068, 1080-1091, 1123-1128, 1195-1204. Impeaching information was available but excluded by the trial court (as outlined above). RP 1292-1308, 1312, 1327-1329.

Without the instruction, Mr. Nixon could not ask jurors to draw an adverse inference from Saunders' absence. Because Saunders was a crucial witness, the court's refusal to instruct on the missing witness rule "substantially affected the outcome."

Id.

It does not appear that the Supreme Court has ever addressed the use of the missing witness instruction outside the criminal context. This case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

III. THE COURT SHOULD HAVE ALLOWED MR. NIXON TO INTRODUCE THE ADMISSION OF A PARTY-OPPONENT.

A statement is not hearsay if it is an admission by a party-opponent. ER 801(d)(2). The rule applies when “[t]he statement is offered against a party and is... the party’s own statement, in either an individual or a representative capacity.” ER 801(d)(2).

Here, the State was permitted to introduce Mr. Nixon’s plea statement as the admission of a party-opponent. Ex. 119. However, the court refused to allow Mr. Nixon to introduce statements made by the State’s representative at the time of the plea. Ex. 217; RP 1463-1468.

In seeking to amend the charge, the State’s attorney acknowledged that Saunders’ deposition revealed inconsistencies “that might cause a jury to have doubts about the victim’s credibility and account of events.” Ex. 217, p. 1.

The State went on to say:

There are inconsistencies and memory issues in the victim’s account of his actions prior to the defendant’s assault as well as in the account of the assault itself. Evidence was found that corroborates some of the

victim's account of the assault but not other aspects of his account of the assault.

Ex. 217, p. 1.

The State's attorney also wrote of "evidentiary difficulties in proceeding on the original charges," and "[e]videntiary problems... which make conviction on the original charge doubtful."⁶ Ex. 217, p. 2. The prosecutor took this position even though "[t]he victim and his mother have expressed their strong disagreement to the amended charges." Ex. 217, p. 2. These representations to the court should have been admitted against the State in this case. ER 801(d)(2)(i).

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