NO. 102459-2

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of

ARON NIXON,

Petitioner.

## STATE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

JOSHUA CHOATE Assistant Attorney General WSBA # 30867 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3001 OID # 91094

# **

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

#### **IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED**

Nixon seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Pet. at 14, 20, 24, 27. This Court will accept a petition on that ground only if it

involves an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This case does not present such an issue. The fact-bound issues in this appeal are routine evidentiary questions, which do not involve constitutional or statutory interpretation, and which do not have impact beyond this individual case. The Court's decision is thorough, well-reasoned, and consistent with settled decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals. For these reasons, additional review of this case is unwarranted.

## A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded the Exclusion of Impeachment Evidence Was Harmless Error

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court erred in prohibiting Nixon from using select hearsay statements of J.S. when cross-examining Detective Wilcox about statements J.S. made to her, but the error was harmless. The introduction of the inconsistent statements concerning a few details of the sexual assault would not have materially affected the outcome of the trial because there was ample evidence that supported Nixon committed the assault against J.S. with sexual motivation.

Nixon claims that the trial court erred in excluding the following three statements J.S. made to Wilcox. Appellant's Opening Br. at 20-21. First, paramedic John Harris testified that J.S. told him Nixon had "raped [J.S.] repeatedly." VRP 1054, 1067. In response, Nixon wanted to admit Wilcox's testimony that J.S. told her that Nixon had raped him only once. VRP 1298, 1305; Ex 160 at 618, 623. Second, Harris testified that J.S. said Nixon had held him in a homeless encampment for three days. VRP 1067. Nixon wanted to impeach this statement by admitting Wilcox's testimony that J.S. told her Nixon held him for 30 hours or less. VRP 1308; Ex 160 at 617, 622, 690. Third, sexual assault nurse examiner (SANE) Jessica Dube testified that J.S. said Nixon used a razor blade and scalpel in the course of assaulting him. VRP 1197, 1199. In response, Nixon sought to admit Wilcox's testimony that J.S. did not tell her that Nixon used a razor blade and scalpel. VRP 1329; Ex 160 at 617-18, 621-24, 690-92.

The Court of Appeals correctly held the trial court's exclusion of impeachment evidence under ER 806 was harmless. As the court recognized, an evidentiary error warrants reversal "only if it results in prejudice … An error is prejudicial if, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." *In re Det. of West*, 171 Wn.2d 383, 410, 256 P.3d 302 (2011) (internal citation omitted) (quoting *State v. Neal*, 144 Wn.2d 600, 611, 30 P.3d 1255 (2001)).

Here, none of the statements challenge the notion that the assault was sexually motivated.<sup>2</sup> A crime is committed with "sexual motivation" when one of the purposes of committing the crime was for the assailant's "sexual gratification." CP 155, 165.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nixon relies heavily on *State v. Horton*, 116 Wn. App. 909, 68 P.3d 1145, 1152 (2003). However, that case involved a direct rebuttal of the allegation that Horton had sexual intercourse with the alleged victim. *Horton*, 116 Wn. App. at 920. Here, J.S.'s alleged inconsistencies relate to details of a multi-day restraint and sexual assault, not whether the assault was committed or by whom.

Whether Nixon raped J.S. once as he told Wilcox, or repeatedly as he told Harris, both scenarios support a finding of sexual motivation. Similarly, J.S.'s statement to Wilcox that Nixon held him captive at the camp for approximately 30 hours, rather than three days as he told Harris, and the fact that J.S. did not tell Wilcox that Nixon used a razor blade and scalpel in assaulting him as he told Dube, are not details that are determinative of whether Nixon committed the assault with sexual motivation.

Additionally, ample evidence supports that the assault was sexually motivated, including the guilty plea, where he stated in part, "I engaged in sexual intercourse with J.S. where J.S. did not consent to sexual intercourse and such lack of consent was clearly expressed by J.S.'s words and/or conduct." Supp. CP Ex 119 at 9. Additionally, Dube testified that J.S. said Nixon put him on his back when raping him, penetrated his anus with Nixon's penis and finger, penetrated his mouth with Nixon's penis, forced him to ejaculate using lubricant, and "licked [him] all the time." VRP 1199, 1200-02. A forensic scientist with the Washington State Patrol Crime Lab, testified that the majority of DNA from the sperm fractions of J.S.'s penile and perineal swabs were consistent with Nixon's DNA. VRP 2188, 2200-01, 2203.

Both experts also testified about the sexual nature of this offense. VRP 1535-37, 2493. Nixon's own expert, Dr. Phenix, testified that she "believe[d] Mr. Nixon raped [J.S.]." VRP 2493. She relied on the facts that Nixon chewed on J.S.'s flesh after eating peanut butter and forced his penis into J.S's mouth. VRP 2493-95. Dr. Fox testified that he relied on the fact that Nixon raped J.S. in concluding that Nixon has ASPD. VRP 1523, 1535-36, 1581. Dr. Fox testified that Nixon put peanut butter on J.S., chewed on his flesh, threatened him with a knife, strangled him, bound him with chains, ejaculated in his mouth, and sodomized, raped, and forcefully copulated J.S. VRP 1535-37. The testimony from multiple witnesses concerning Nixon's sexual assault of J.S. supports that Nixon assaulted J.S. with sexual motivation.

Lastly, Nixon's counsel cross-examined Dr. Fox about inconsistencies in J.S.'s statements to undermine J.S.'s credibility. During cross-examination, Dr. Fox acknowledged that J.S. was not held captive by Nixon on June 24th or 25th and escaped on the 27th. VRP 1668, 1716. Counsel also crossexamined Dr. Fox about several other details to undermine J.S.'s account of events, including that J.S. said he feigned looking at a bird to escape, J.S. told Dube that Nixon used a lubricant to copulate with him, J.S. told Wilcox that someone had videotaped the sexual assault, and J.S. may have used methamphetamine. VRP 1672-73, 1680, 1690, 1703-05, 1707-08, 1711-12, 1715 1720-22. On redirect, Dr. Fox testified that the inconsistencies in J.S.'s statements did not affect his opinions VRP 1847-51.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that because the parties introduced ample evidence that the assault was sexually motivated, introduction of the impeachment evidence would not have materially affected the outcome of the trial, and the trial court's error was therefore harmless.

## B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded the Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion by Declining To Give a Missing Witness Instruction

Nixon challenges the trial court's refusal to give a missing witness instruction to the jury when J.S. did not testify at trial. The Court of Appeals properly concluded the trial court did not abuse its discretion by declining to give a missing witness instruction because the State did not have particular control over J.S., and J.S.'s absence was satisfactorily explained.

The purpose of a missing witness instruction is to allow the jury to make an inference that the absent witness's testimony would have been unfavorable to the party against whom the instruction is sought. *See State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 598, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). The instruction is warranted when (1) the missing witness's potential testimony is material and not cumulative; (2) the witness is "particularly under the control" of the party that would receive the negative inference rather than "equally available to both parties"; and (3) the witness's absence is not "satisfactorily explained." *Id.* at 598-99. Review of whether the trial court correctly applied the missing witness doctrine is a factual determination reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Coryell*, 197 Wn.2d 397, 405, 483 P.3d 98 (2021).

The first criterion of the missing witness doctrine is not contested. However, the second criterion is not satisfied because J.S. was not "particularly under the control" of the State. The question of availability does not mean the witness is in court or is subject to the subpoena power. State v. Blair, 117 Wn.2d 479, 490, 816 P.2d 718 (1991). A witness is "particularly under the control" of a party when he is a "natural witness," and "it appears reasonable that [he] is under the [party's] control or peculiarly available to the [party], and the [party] would not have failed to produce [him] unless the testimony were unfavorable." Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d at 598. In addition, a witness is "available" to only one party when there exists "such a community of interest between the party and the witness," or the party has "so superior of an opportunity for knowledge of a witness, as in ordinary experience would have made it reasonably probable that the witness would have been called to testify for such party except for the fact that his testimony would have been damaging." *Blair*, 117 Wn.2d at 490 (citation omitted).

In *State. v. Reed*, 168 Wn. App. 553, 559, 571, 278 P.3d 203 (2012), this Court affirmed Reed's conviction for Assault in the Second Degree involving his girlfriend, "Ta," holding, in part, that that the trial court properly denied Reed's request for a missing witness instruction for Ta. The Court reasoned that Ta was not peculiarly available to the State because Ta had no professional relationship with the prosecutor, and she was neither law enforcement, "nor was she unknown" to Reed. *Id.* at 572-73.

Similarly, here, J.S. was not peculiarly available to the State. Like Ta, J.S. had no professional relationship with the State, and he was neither law enforcement, nor was he unknown to Nixon. J.S. was equally available to both parties. Thus, the State had no community of interest with J.S. In fact, just as the

State could have called J.S. to provide additional information about his experience being raped and tortured to support that Nixon committed a sexually violent offense, Nixon could have called J.S. to support his testimony that he and J.S. had only consensual sex. VRP 2429, 2431, 2432-33, 2574. In addition, select evidence of J.S.'s account of the rape and assault was admitted through other witnesses' testimony under exceptions to the hearsay rule, creating less of a need for the State to call J.S. himself. VRP 1088-89, 1196, 1199, 1200-02, 2200-03; Ex 119 at 9. For these reasons, the Court of Appeals correctly held that J.S. lacked specific ties to the State such that he was under the State's particular control to satisfy the second missing witness doctrine criterion.

Moreover, the third criterion is also not satisfied because J.S.'s absence was satisfactorily explained. A witness's absence is sufficiently explained, for example, when the witness is incompetent, the witness's testimony would be selfincriminating, or if the witness cannot be located because he is transient and left town. *Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d at 599; *Blair*, 117 Wn.2d at 489. By contrast, daycare-related issues that would enable a witness to testify on only select days is not a satisfactory explanation. *State v. Cheatam*, 150 Wn.2d 626, 654, 81 P.3d 830 (2003).

Here, J.S. did not attend his deposition, and his attorney represented that he had been willing to participate but ultimately did not because "the anticipation of the experience was too traumatizing to relive." CP 980. The State then decided against calling him at trial and informed Nixon's trial counsel of this because it has a practice against forcing victim's to testify, in part, to avoid re-traumatizing them. VRP 2652-53. The State provided Nixon's counsel with J.S.'s attorney's contact information, which is how the State originally "track[ed] down [J.S.]" CP 973-74, 980-83; VRP 2651. The fact that the State could not locate J.S. after he unexpectedly did not attend his deposition and then decided against calling J.S. to avoid retraumatizing him satisfactorily explains J.S.'s absence. This

situation is more akin to being unable to locate transient witnesses than a witness's availability being limited to certain days by constraints like daycare. Consequently, the Court of Appeals correctly held the third criterion was not satisfied because the trial court determined the explanation provided by the State for J.S's absence was satisfactory. Because J.S. was not particularly within the State's control and his absence was satisfactorily explained, the missing witness doctrine does not apply.

Nixon incorrectly asserts this issue is one of substantial public interest because the Court has not applied it outside of a criminal proceeding. However, the Court of Appeals did not rely on the fact that this is a civil case, and not a criminal case, in upholding the trial court's decision. The Court of Appeals properly applied pertinent law and no further direction by the this Court is necessary.

## C. The Court of Appeals Properly Held the Prosecutor's Statement From Nixon's 2017 Criminal Case Was Not Relevant To the SVP Proceeding

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the prosecutor's statement from Nixon's 2017 criminal case was not relevant to the SVP proceeding. Nixon claims the statement should have been admitted by the trial court under ER 801(d)(2), which provides that admissions by a party opponent<sup>3</sup> are not hearsay. Appellant's Opening Br. at 32-36. However, the statement was excluded by the trial court on the basis that it was irrelevant. VRP 1688-89.

Evidence is relevant "only if it increases or decreases the likelihood that a fact exists that is consequential to the jury's determination whether the respondent is a sexually violent predator." *In re the Det. of West*, 171 Wn.2d 383, 397, 256 P.3d 302 (2011). "Because relevance is a judgment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals also correctly held the State was not the party opponent in the 2017 criminal case.

dependent on the surrounding facts, the trial court enjoys broad discretion in deciding whether evidence is relevant . . . ." *Id.* 

In addition to the three elements that juries must find when making an SVP determination, here, the jury was required to find that Nixon committed assault in the second degree with sexual motivation. CP 153, 155. The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it excluded as irrelevant to this determination the prosecutor's statement explaining the reasons for amending the information in the 2017 criminal case. The statement simply reflected an assessment about the strength of the State's evidence in the criminal case at the time and provided context for the plea agreement. The statement had no bearing on the jury's determination about whether Nixon is an SVP or committed the 2017 assault with sexual motivation. It was irrelevant and properly excluded.

### D. The Trial Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion To Exclude Testimony That Recent Overt Acts Would Be an "Added Deterrent" and Any Error Was Harmless

Nixon argues that the trial court erroneously excluded evidence about ROAs, even though Nixon testified in a deposition that he knew he could be subject to another SVP petition in the future if he committed an ROA and this was an "added deterrent" for him. Appellant's Opening Br. at 36-51. Nixon's argument fails because the trial court's ruling was a proper exercise of discretion.

In general, evidence that a respondent could be subject to another SVP proceeding in the future based on commission of an ROA upon release is relevant. *In re Det. of Post*, 170 Wn.2d 302, 316-17, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010). Specifically, if the person has knowledge of the consequences of engaging in such conduct and it serves as a deterrent, this evidence is relevant to the person's likelihood of committing predatory acts of sexual violence. *Id*.

But such evidence is not automatically admissible and is subject to ER 403. *Post*, 170 Wn.2d at 317. Under ER 403, even

relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, among others. A trial judge has broad discretion in balancing the probative value of the evidence against its possible prejudicial impact. *State v. Rice*, 48 Wn. App. 7, 11, 737 P.2d 726 (1987).

Here, the trial court properly exercised its discretion when it excluded evidence of possible future SVP petitions, including Nixon's testimony in a deposition that such petitions would be an "added deterrent." This was a reasonable decision in context since Nixon also testified in the deposition that he had "zero" risk of re-offense. *See* VRP 88-89. In addition, Nixon denied committing any offenses and testified that he did not intend to commit any crimes "whether [the threat of a future petition] is there or . . . not." CP 773-74.

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